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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
BEFORE THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

COMMISSIONERS: Joseph J. Simons, Chairman
Noah Joshua Phillips
Rohit Chopra
Rebecca Kelly Slaughter
Christine S. Wilson

)
IN THE MATTER OF )
)

UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, ) Docket No. C-4677
a corporation; )
)
Collaborative Care Holdings, LLC, )
a limited liability company; )
)
DaVita Inc., )
a corporation; )
)
and )
)
DaVita Medical Holdings, LLC, )
a limited liability company. )
)

COMPLAINT

Pursuant to the provisions of the Clayton Act and the Federal Trade Commission Act
(“FTC Act”), and by the virtue of the authority vested in it by said Acts, the Federal Trade
Commission (“FTC” or “Commission”), having reason to believe that Respondent Collaborative
Care Holdings, LLC, a limited liability company subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission
and controlled by Respondent UnitedHealth Group Incorporated (“UnitedHealth Group”), a
corporation subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission, and Respondent DaVita Inc.
(“DaVita”), a corporation subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission, have reached an
agreement (the “Proposed Acquisition”) in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, as amended,
15 U.S.C. § 45, pursuant to which UnitedHealth Group will acquire all of the issued and
outstanding equity interests of Respondent DaVita Medical Holdings, LLC, the holding company
for DaVita Medical Group (“DMG”) and a limited liability company subject to the jurisdiction of
the Commission, from DaVita, which, if consummated, would violate Section 7 of the Clayton
Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 18, and Section 5 of the FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 45,
and, it appearing to the Commission that a proceeding by it in respect thereof would be in the
public interest, hereby issues its Complaint, stating its charges as follows:
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I. RESPONDENTS

1. Respondent UnitedHealth Group is a for-profit corporation headquartered at 9900 Bren
Road East, Minnetonka, MN 55343. UnitedHealth Group operates two wholly-owned
subsidiaries: UnitedHealthcare and Optum, Inc. (*Optum”).

2. UnitedHealth Group’s insurance business (operated by UnitedHealthcare, or “United”)
offers commercial and Medicare Advantage (“MA”) health insurance plans to employer groups
and individual consumers, including Medicare-eligible seniors (individuals age 65 and over), in
the State of Nevada and other states in competition with other MA insurers, known as “Medicare
Advantage Organizations” (“MAOs”). United is the largest MAO in the combined Clark and
Nye counties in Nevada (the “Las Vegas Area”).

3. Respondent Collaborative Care Holdings, LLC is a limited liability company organized,
existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Delaware with its
executive offices and principal place of business located at 9900 Bren Road East, Minnetonka,
Minnesota 55343.

4. Optum’s OptumCare unit offers managed care provider organization (“MCPQO”) services
to health insurers, including MAOs, and operates employed medical groups, independent
physicians associations or affiliated networks, ambulatory surgery centers, and urgent care
centers. In the Las Vegas Area, OptumCare’s network consists of primary care physicians and
specialists employed by or associated with Southwest Medical Associates, OptumCare Medical
Group, and OptumCare Specialty Care.

5. Respondent DaVita Inc. is a for-profit corporation headquartered at 2000 16th Street,
Denver, CO 80202. DaVita’s DMG division operates MCPOs in six states, including Nevada.
In the Las Vegas Area, DMG operates the HealthCare Partners of Nevada (“HCPNV”) network,
which consists of HCP Medical Group, an employed physician group, and DMG’s affiliated
providers.

6. Respondent DaVita Medical Holdings, LLC, is a limited liability company organized,
existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California with its
executive offices and principal place of business located at 717 17" Street, Denver, Colorado
80202.

7. In the Las Vegas Area, Optum and DMG operate the two largest MCPOs, which are
medical groups that employ or affiliate with a significant number of primary care physicians and
specialists to ensure the coordination of patient care and control the costs of delivering proper
care to patients, including MA members. Optum’s and DMG’s MCPOs—OptumCare and
HCPNV, respectively—are the two largest providers of MCPO services sold to MAOs in the Las
Vegas Area.
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1. JURISDICTION

8. Respondents, and each of their relevant operating entities and parent entities are, and at
all relevant times have been, engaged in commerce or in activities affecting “commerce” as
defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 44, and Section 1 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C.
§12.

9. The Proposed Acquisition constitutes an acquisition subject to Section 7 of the Clayton
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18.

111.THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION

10.  On December 5, 2017, UnitedHealth Group entered into an equity purchase agreement to
acquire DaVita’s DMG division for approximately $4.9 billion in cash. The purchase price was
amended to $4.3 billion on December 11, 2018. The Proposed Acquisition includes DMG’s
medical groups and affiliated networks across all six states where DMG operates, including
Nevada.

IV.THE RELEVANT MARKETS

A. MCPO Services Sold to MAQOs

11. MCPO services sold to MAOs constitute a relevant service market in which to analyze
the effects of the Proposed Acquisition. MCPO services include physician service lines—both
primary care physicians and specialists—that are integrated with other aspects of care
coordination and cost containment provided by MCPOs. MCPOs offer to MAOs a broad set of
providers that can independently manage an MA network while effectively coordinating care,
managing utilization, and containing costs for a covered patient population.

12.  The relevant geographic market in which to analyze the effects of the Proposed
Acquisition on MCPO services sold to MAOs is no broader than the Las Vegas Area, which
includes Clark and Nye counties in Nevada.

B. MA Plans Sold to Individual MA Members

13.  Another relevant product market in which to analyze the effects of the Proposed
Acquisition is the market for MA health plans (“MA plans”) sold to individual MA members.
MA plans are meaningfully differentiated from other types of health insurance products,
including Original Medicare, eligibility-restricted Medicare options (e.g., special needs plans or
“SNPs”), employer-group MA plans, and commercial health plans. MA plans are differentiated
from Original Medicare in several important respects, including MA plans’ limited networks,
caps on out-of-pocket spending, coordination of care by providers, and members’ access to
supplemental benefits like prescription drug coverage. SNPs are MA plans specifically designed
for qualifying individuals to treat specific medical conditions or needs, and thus are not available
to seniors who enroll in a typical MA plan unless they have or develop one of the specified
conditions required for SNP eligibility. Likewise, employer-group MA plans are limited to



181 0057

employees of a participating organization; an MA enrollee cannot enroll in an employer-group
MA plan unless they are a former employee of a participating employer. The market for MA
plans also excludes commercial health plans because MA plans often feature zero or very low
premiums, which are much less expensive than commercial health plans, which frequently
charge much higher premiums. Medicare-eligible seniors who purchase MA plans therefore are
either not likely to select Original Medicare or purchase a commercial health plan, or are
restricted from purchasing a SNP or employer-group MA plan, in the event of a price increase on
all MA plans.

14. Clark County and Nye County are each a relevant geographic market in which to analyze
the effects of the Proposed Acquisition on MA plans sold to individual MA members; however,
the competitive conditions and market structure for MA plans sold to individual MA members
are similar in both counties, so it may be appropriate to cluster Clark and Nye counties together
as the Las Vegas Area for analytical convenience.

V. THE STRUCTURE OF THE RELEVANT MARKETS

15. UnitedHealth Group’s OptumCare and DaVita’s HCPNV are the two largest providers of
MCPO services sold to MAOs in the Las Vegas Area. The Proposed Acquisition will cause
OptumCare and HCPNV to cover over 80% of MA members in the Las Vegas Area and result in
a highly concentrated market.

16. In the market for MA plans sold to individual MA members in the Las Vegas Area,
United covers over 50% of MA lives. Humana is responsible for approximately 35% of the MA
lives in the Las Vegas Area. The remainder of the Las Vegas Area market for MA plans sold to
individual MA members comprises a number of MA insurers with less than 10% of the market.

VI.EEEECTS OF THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION

A. Horizontal Effects in the Las Vegas Area

17.  The Proposed Acquisition would eliminate direct and substantial price and non-price
competition between UnitedHealth Group’s OptumCare and DaVita’s HCPNV in MCPO
services sold to MAOs in the Las Vegas Area. The elimination of this competition would allow
UnitedHealth Group to exercise market power unilaterally following the consummation of the
Proposed Acquisition. The ultimate effect of the Proposed Acquisition would be to increase the
likelihood that prices of MCPO services provided to MAOs in the Las VVegas Area would rise
above competitive levels. The Proposed Acquisition would also result in a decrease in incentive
to compete on quality, services, and other amenities in the Las Vegas Area.

B. Vertical Effects in the Las Vegas Area

18.  The Proposed Acquisition would also result in vertical anticompetitive effects stemming
from the integration of UnitedHealth Group and HCPNV, because UnitedHealth Group—which
owns United, the leading MAO in the Las Vegas Area—would control a competitively
significant input—HCPNV—for United’s rival MAOs’ networks. This would give UnitedHealth
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Group the ability and incentive to negotiate with United’s rival MAOs for higher HCPNV rates,
or even refuse to allow rival MAOs to contract with HCPNV.

19.  The ultimate effect of the Proposed Acquisition would be to increase the likelihood that
the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) will make higher payments to MAOs,
and seniors in the Las Vegas Area would incur higher cost-sharing payments and receive fewer
benefits and lower quality healthcare services.

20.  The Proposed Acquisition would also reduce the non-price competition that takes place
today between United and Humana, an MAO in the Las Vegas Area. Today, Humana and
HCPNV closely coordinate on care, quality, and service offerings. The Proposed Acquisition
may significantly reduce HCPNV’s incentive to work with Humana to compete against United
on these non-price dimensions. In turn, a reduction in Humana’s MA plan quality and benefits
would diminish United’s incentives to improve attributes of its own MA plans. Ultimately, this
would reduce the quality and breadth of choices available to seniors in the Las Vegas Area.

VIl. ENTRY CONDITIONS

21. New entry or expansion by existing market participants is unlikely to occur in a timely or
sufficient manner to deter or counteract the likely anticompetitive effects of the Proposed
Acquisition in the Las Vegas Area.

VIIl. EEFICIENCIES

22, Respondents’ claimed efficiencies do not outweigh the Proposed Acquisition’s likely
harm to competition. The purported benefits fall far short of the cognizable efficiencies needed
to outweigh the Proposed Acquisition’s likely significant harm to competition in the Las Vegas
Area.

IX.VIOLATIONS CHARGED

23. The Proposed Acquisition constitutes an unfair method of competition in violation of
Section 5 of the FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 45, and if consummated, may substantially
lessen competition in the relevant markets in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, as amended,
15 U.S.C. § 45, and Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 18.

WHEREFORE, THE PREMISES CONSIDERED, Federal Trade Commission on this
nineteenth day of June, 2019, issues its complaint against said Respondents.

By the Commission, Chairman Simons recused.
April J. Tabor
Acting Secretary

SEAL



